IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARIO TREJO, Appellant, vs.)))	NO.	84724 Electronically Filed Feb 16 2023 02:27 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)		
Respondent.)		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DA 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

AARON FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant, MARIO TREJO ("Trejo"), appeals from a final judgment under Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(b) and NRS 177.015. The district court filed the Judgment of Conviction on June 16, 2022. Appellant's Appendix ("AA") Vol. IV 898. Trejo filed a Proper Person Notice of Appeal on May 12, 2022. <u>Id</u>. at 892. The Clark County Public Defender's Office filed its Notice of Appeal on June 28, 2022. <u>Id</u>. at 904.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Trejo's case is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court because he was convicted after jury trial of one (1) category A felony and 12 category B felonies. <u>Id</u>. at 898-899. Convictions involving category A and B felonies after jury trial are not within the original jurisdiction of the Court

of Appeals. <u>See See Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP")</u> NRAP 17(b)(2)(A). Additionally, Trejo's case presents issues of first impression and statewide public importance in Nevada. Therefore, the Nevada Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction. NRAP 17(a)(11)-(12).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The District Court Violated Trejo's Right to an Interpreter at Critical Stages.
- II. The District Court Violated Trejo's Fundamental Right to Counsel.
- III. The District Court Abused its Discretion by Admitting Videos at Trial Which Had Not Been Provided to Trejo.
- IV. The District Court's Jury Instruction Errors Violated Trejo'sRight to a Fair Trial.
- V. The District Court Erred by Allowing the State to Admit Bad Act Evidence and by Not Providing a Limiting Instruction.
- VI. The State Failed to Present Sufficient Evidence to Support
 Trejo's Conspiracy Conviction.
- VII. Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 4, 2018, the State of Nevada charged Trejo *via* Indictment with: count 1 - Burglary While in Possession of Firearm; counts 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 - Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon; count 9 - First-Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon; counts 10 and 11 - Assault on a Protected Person with Use of a Deadly Weapon; count 12 - Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, count 13 - Attempt Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon. AA I 1-5. Counts 1 through 11 pertained to an incident at Superpawn, located at 1150 Rainbow Ave., Las Vegas, Nevada, on September 3, 2018. <u>Id</u>. Counts 12 and 13 pertained to an incident at the same Superpawn approximately one month earlier on August 4, 2018. <u>Id</u>.

At his district court arraignment on October 15, 2018, Trejo pleaded not guilty and waived his constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial. AA IV. 910. The district court scheduled calendar call for March 27, 2019, and jury trial for April 1, 2019. <u>Id</u>. At the calendar call, the court continued the trial to October 14, 2019, per Trejo's request. <u>Id</u>. at 913. The court eventually continued the trial a few more times due to the parties' inability to proceed and the Covid-19 pandemic. See Id. at 914-918.

On March 02, 2021, Trejo filed a proper person motion to dismiss the Clark County Public Defender as his attorney. AA I 117-20. At a hearing

on Trejo's motion the district court granted Trejo's motion to withdraw the Public Defender's Office after conducting a Faretta¹ canvass and concluding Trejo knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. AA IV 920; AA V 1136. However, the district court also appointed the Public Defender's Office to act as standby counsel.² Id. at 1137.

Trial began on April 18, 2022 and ended on May 4, 2022. AA IV 942, 954. After deliberating for two hours the jury returned its verdict finding Trejo guilty on all counts. <u>Id.</u>; AA IV 887-91. On May 12, 2022, Trejo filed a proper person Notice of Appeal although the district court had not yet pronounced sentence. At Trejo's sentencing hearing on June 15, 2022, the district court sentenced Trejo to an aggregate sentence of 180 months to life in the Nevada Department of Corrections with 1,382 days credit for time served. <u>Id.</u> at 957. The district court appointed the Clark County Public Defender's Office to represent Trejo on direct appeal. AA XIV 3196. The district court filed the Judgment of Conviction on June 16, 2022. AA IV 898. On June 28, 2022, the Public Defender filed its Notice of Appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 904.

¹ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

² The court conducted another <u>Faretta</u> canvass on February 3, 2022, after this Court's decision in <u>Miles v. State</u>, 500 P.3d 1263 (Nev. Dec. 23, 2021). <u>See</u> AA IV 934-35; AA V 1200.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 4, 2018, around 8:10 a.m., Jennifer Incera ("Incera") arrived for work at the Superpawn located at 1150 Rainbow Ave., Las Vegas, Nevada. AA XI 2429. Upon arrival Incera noticed a black Acura sedan with blackout windows and a sunscreen backed into a parking stall near the Superpawn. Id. at 2432-33. Incera and employees Juliana Saldana ("Saldana") and Ivan Jaquez ("Jaquez") were opening the store's security gate when someone began charging towards them. Id. at 2439. The person appeared to be male and was wearing a motorcycle helmet, a leather jacket, dark jeans, boots, and was carrying an unknown type firearm.³ AA X 2177-78. After Saldana exclaimed, "we're getting robbed," Incera, Saldana, and Jaquez ran to the side of the Superpawn where Saldana had parked her Jeep Liberty. Id. at 2175. After briefly hiding behind the Jeep, Saldana entered the driver's seat while Incera and Jaquez entered the backseat, and Saldana drove away. Id. at 2180.

As Saldana drove away, Jaquez called 911 and handed the phone to Incera who reported the incident. AA X 2359. Meanwhile, Saldana, Jaquez, and Incera believed the same Acura that had been parked at the Superpawn

³ Incera did not notice the suspect holding a firearm. AA XI 2460. Jaquez did notice the suspect holding a firearm but could not describe the firearm in any way. AA X 2356-57.

during the attempted robbery was now following them. AA X 2182, 2360; AA XI 2445. Saldana was eventually able to "lose" the Acura. AA X 2184-85. 911 dispatchers then advised Incera to proceed to a nearby BMW dealership to meet with responding officers. <u>Id</u>. at 2185.

Metro robbery detective Jeffery Clark ("Clark") responded to the BMW dealership and met with Incera, Jaquez, and Saldana. <u>Id</u>. at 2288. Incera, Jaquez, and Saldana all advised they believed there were two suspects involved in incident. <u>Id</u>. at 2291, 2299. Clark attempted to recover surveillance footage from the Superpawn, however there was no footage from outside the store during the incident. AA IX 2145; AA X 2292, 2294. Clark did recover a still photograph of the Acura taken from a business near the Superpawn. <u>Id</u>. at 2298.

On September 3, 2018, Saldana and Jaquez were working at the same Superpawn along with fellow employees: Melani Howard ("Howard"); Giovani Andino ("Andino"); Johnathan Rivera-Sandoval ("Sandoval"); and Adriane Serrano-Borjorquez ("Borjorquez").⁴ AA XI 2471. Around 1:00 p.m., Andino and Borjorquez – the assistant store manager – were in a back

⁴ Count 2 of the Indictment charged Trejo with Robbery against Serrano. AA I 2. Count 3 charged Robbery against Andino. <u>Id</u>. Count 4 charged Robbery against Jaquez. <u>Id</u>. Count 5 charged Robbery against Carla Reck ("Reck"), a Superpawn employee who was present on September 3, 2018 (<u>see</u> XI 2471) but did not testify at trial. AA I 3. Count 6 charged Robbery

office batching jewelry and completing miscellaneous paperwork. AA XII 2739. Sandoval was stationed at the front door to greet customers. <u>Id</u>. at 2856. Saldana had just returned to the store after picking up pizza for the staff. AA IX 2194.

Around 1:08 p.m. a man entered the Superpawn wearing a motorcycle helmet, black jacket, dark jeans, worker boots, gloves, and holding a firearm with another firearm strapped to his back. AA X 2195-96. Sandoval activated the alarm pendant he was wearing to alert police. AA XII 2859. Howard dropped to the floor and eventually hid inside a cabinet. AA XI 2476-77. Saldana ran to the manager's office and told Borjorquez and Andino "210," which is a security code indicating a robbery in progress. AA X 2196. The suspect ordered everyone in the store to lay on the floor. Id. at 2364-65. Meanwhile, from her hiding place in the cabinet, Howard called 911. AA XI 2477.

Borjorquez exited the office ignoring the suspect's request to get on the ground. AA XIII 2935. Borjorquez told the suspect she was the manager and advised, "just tell me what you want." <u>Id.</u> at 2937. The suspect told Borjorquez to set the time-lock safe and zip tie the front doors. <u>Id.</u> Borjorquez unsuccessfully attempted to zip tie the front doors. <u>Id.</u> at

against Sandoval. <u>Id</u>. Count 7 charged Robbery against Saldana. <u>Id</u>. Count 8 charged Robbery against Howard. Id.

2937-38. The suspect then ordered Borjorquez to open the tills where employees kept cash. <u>Id</u>. at 2938. The suspect told Borjorquez he did not want "any of that track pack shit[.]" <u>Id</u>. at 2939. After Borjorquez placed the money from each till into the suspect's backpack, the suspect ordered her to open the jewelry cases and put the jewelry into the backpack. <u>Id</u>. at 2939-40. After Borjorquez complied with the suspect's request for the jewelry, he took her back into the office where the safe was located. <u>Id</u>. at 2943. Once in the office the suspect became frustrated that the time-delayed safe had not opened yet. <u>Id</u>. Meanwhile, two customers attempted to enter the store. <u>Id</u>. According to Borjorquez, the suspect told the customers to enter while Borjorquez told them to run. Id.

The suspect demanded Borjorquez let him exit through the Superpawn's back door. <u>Id</u>. at 2945. However, Borjorquez explained her key to the backdoor had broken and she could not open the door. <u>Id</u>. at 2949. The suspect then went to the front door, peaked outside, and returned to Borjorquez. <u>Id</u>. The suspect allegedly grabbed Borjorquez, placed his gun to her head, and forced her towards the front door with him. <u>Id</u>. at 2950. Meanwhile, numerous police officers began to arrive.

Officer Maria Fulwiler ("Fulwiler"), along with her partner Officer

Thomas Carrigy ("Carrigy") arrived first – before the suspect and

Borjorquez exited the Superpawn – and parked at a business next door. AA XI 2528. As Fulwiler began broadcasting information over her radio she noticed the suspect and Borjorquez exiting the Superpawn. <u>Id</u>. at 2532. Officers Brain Farrington ("Farrington") and Keenan Graham ("Graham") arrived just as the suspect and Borjorquez exited. AA XII 2894.

According to Borjorquez, the suspect had a firearm placed at the right side of her head as he led her from the Superpawn to his vehicle. AA XIII 2951-52. Officers gave the suspect verbal commands to drop the firearm. AA XI 2534. Borjorquez decided to attempt to disarm the suspect. AA XIII 2952. As Borjorquez struggled to disarm the suspect, one round discharged striking the ground and causing a "stovepipe malfunction" in the firearm. AA XI 2534, 2584, 2651; AA XII 2835, 2898; AA XIII 2952. Borjorquez was able to take the firearm. AA XIII 2953. Borjorquez broke free from the suspect, ejected the firearm magazine, threw the gun, and ran back towards the Superpawn. Id. at 2954. At that point officers Carrigy, Farrington, and Graham shot the suspect. AA XI 2588; AA XII 2837, 2900. While on the ground, the suspect still had another firearm strapped to his back. AA XI 2535, 2595; AA XII 2901. Officers gave verbal commands to remove the

⁵ A "stovepipe malfunction" occurs when a bullet cartridge becomes stuck in a firearm's ejection port. AA XI 2634.

⁶ Carrigy discharged his weapon two (2) times, Farrington three (3) times, and Graham five (5) times. AA XIII 3011.

weapon. AA XI 2535, 2595; AA XII 2901. The suspect complied and officers placed him in custody. AA XI 2538. The suspect removed his motorcycle helmet and advised his name was Mario Trejo. <u>Id</u>. at 2539.

After Trejo's arrest, Crime Scene Analysts ("CSA") from Metro processed the scene for evidence. AA XI 2626. CSA Tabatha Paine ("Paine") recovered the handgun – a Glock – and the magazine that Borjorquez had removed. Id. at 2633. Paine also collected Trejo's helmet, boots, backpack, facemask, tactical belt, zip ties from the Superpawn door, and another firearm. Id. at 2633-37, 2660. Paine swabbed the Glock, 3 firearm magazines, and a knife, for DNA and obtained a buccal swab from Borjorquez. Id. at 2639, 2643, 2645. Paine noted there was a bullet impact in the ground near the vehicle Trejo drove to the Superpawn, three impacts in the rear passenger side of the vehicle, one on the rear driver's side, three

⁷ Paine recovered wire cutters, US currency, and jewelry from inside the backpack. <u>Id</u>. at 2662. According to Tim Hiner ("Hiner"), the regional loss prevention manager from Superpawn, there was approximately \$38,000.00 worth of jewelry and \$3,500.00 in cash from Superpawn in the backpack. AA IX 2143, 2166. Hiner also confirmed Trejo was employed at the Superpawn between July 2011 and November 2012. <u>Id</u>. at 2148.

⁸ Police obtained Trejo's buccal on September 12, 2018, while Trejo was in custody at the Clark County Detention Center. AA X 2273

⁹ Paine did not use a bullet hole testing kit on this impact. Rather, she assumed it was a bullet impact based upon her experience. AA XII 2677. Paine acknowledged she did not recover the slug from the bullet that allegedly struck the pavement during Borjorquez's struggle with Trejo over the Glock. <u>Id</u>.

in face of the wall near where the vehicle had been parked, and two more farther down the wall. <u>Id</u>. at 2651.

Police executed a search warrant on the white Hyundai Trejo drove to the Superpawn. AA X 2269. The Hyundai had a Utah plate attached to the rear, which was not assigned to that vehicle, and a Nevada plate in the trunk, which was assigned to the vehicle. Id. at 2269, 2272; AA XII 2693. The Hyundai was registered to Trejo's friend Matthew Jason Mongeau ("Mongeau"). AA XII 2704. Elsewhere in the vehicle police recovered a cell phone from the center console, a .40 caliber magazine from the center console, a satchel, and an "AK-47-style pistol." AA X 2267, 2271-72; AA XII 2697. Inside the satchel police discovered two .40 caliber magazines. AA XII 2697. Trejo's DNA was located on many items recovered from his person and from inside the Hyundai as well. AA XII 2730-33.

Metro Detective Jeffery Clark ("Clark") first spoke to Trejo on September 6, 2018, while Trejo was in the hospital recovering from his gunshot wound. AA X 2308-09. Clark had been assigned to investigate the August 4, 2018, attempt robbery at the same Superpawn. <u>Id</u>. at 2301. Clark believed based upon similarities between the incidents, Trejo was likely the

¹⁰ Trejo called Mongeau on September 3, 2018, around 10:00 am asking to borrow the Hyundai. AA XII 2808. Mongeau agreed after Trejo advised he needed the vehicle to "pick up his two daughters and his girlfriend from her mother's house." <u>Id</u>. at 2809.

suspect from the August 4th incident. <u>Id</u>. According to Clark, during his interview Trejo admitted he and another individual attempted to rob the Superpawn on August 4, 2018, and both possessed firearms at the time. <u>Id</u>. at 2319. Additionally, Trejo admitted to robbing the Superpawn on September 3, 2018, and that he knew Borjorquez from high school. <u>Id</u>. at 2321-22. At the interview's conclusion, Trejo wrote an apology letter to the alleged victims.¹¹ <u>Id</u>. at 2322.

Although police recovered a cell phone from inside the Hyundai on September 3, 2018, the phone was eventually examined three years later, on September 14, 2021. AA IX 2137. According to Metro Detective Barry Jones ("Jones"), the cell phone showed a Google search on September 1, 2018, at 12:28 p.m. for the Superpawn located at Rainbow and Charleston Blvd. Id. at 2101-02. The phone also contained text messages from August 4, 2018, September 1, 2018, and September 2, 2018, which police believed discussed the August 4, 2018, incident and preparation for the September 3, 2018, incident. See Id. at 2010-2125. Police also recovered text messages from the phone from Mongeau on September 3, 2018, asking to return his vehicle. Id. at 2126-28. Finally, police recovered a photograph of an

¹¹ The State admitted the letter at trial as State's Exhibit 158. AA X 2323.

unidentified individual wearing a skull mask and sunglasses which was placed or transferred onto the phone on March 22, 2018. <u>Id</u>. at 2103-05.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Numerous errors occurred in the proceedings below which individually and collectively deprived Trejo of his Due Process right to a fair trial.

First, due to injuries from an incident which occurred before the incidents at issue in this case – where Trejo had been shot – as well as his injuries during the October 3, 2018, incident, Trejo suffered a medical episode at the Clark County Detention Center while awaiting trial. This episode left Trejo unable to speak. Although the court became aware of Trejo's disability, it did not appoint a registered community interpreter to assist Trejo during court appearances until trial. Accordingly, Trejo could not effectively communicate with the court during critical stages of the proceedings. The court's failure to appoint an interpreter is reversible error.

Second, prior to trial Trejo requested the court appoint him alternate counsel or allow him to represent himself. The court denied Trejo's request for alternate counsel without conducting an adequate inquiry. Moreover, even though Trejo's request for self-representation was equivocal, the court nevertheless conducted two inadequate canvasses before allowing Trejo to

represent himself. The court's decision violated Trejo's right to counsel and is structural error.

Third, prior to trial Trejo requested a copy of all digital evidence the State intended to use at trial. Although the State and the court acknowledged the obligation to provide Trejo with copies, the State did not provide them to Trejo. Instead, the State relied upon the fact that it could not provide Trejo with copies while Trejo was incarcerated and that it had previously provided copies to Trejo's standby counsel. Trejo objected at trial when the State introduced videos he had not seen. The district court overruled his objection without fashioning a remedy for the State's discovery violation. This error violated Trejo's fundamental right to a fair trial and impacted the jury's verdict.

Fourth, the district court failed to adequately instruct the jury regarding the law governing the case. The court failed to instruct the jury regarding Second-Degree Kidnapping as a lesser included offense to First-Degree Kidnapping even though the State presented evidence at trial which absolved Trejo of guilt for the greater offense while supporting guilt for the lesser offense. Additionally, Trejo moved to suppress his statements prior to trial arguing he did not make them voluntarily. However, although the court denied Trejo's motion by finding the statements were voluntarily, the court

failed to offer an instruction advising the jury it was obligated to determine whether statements Trejo made to police were voluntary. These two instructional errors violated Trejo's fundamental right to a fair trial before a fully instructed jury.

Fifth, the State intentionally elicited testimony from a witness that implicated Trejo in an uncharged criminal act. The State compounded this error by failing to immediately request a limiting instruction. The court also erred with respect to the bad act by not offering Trejo a limiting instruction either immediately after the State introduced the evidence or in jury instructions.

Sixth, the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support Trejo's conviction for Conspiracy to Commit Robbery. The State alleged Trejo conspired with an unnamed individual to commit robbery and in furtherance of this conspiracy robbed Borjorquez on October 3, 2018. However, at trial the only evidence the State presented concerning any "conspiracy" involved the incident on August 4, 2018. Indeed, the State explicitly argued to the jury that the evidence concerning the conspiracy on August 4th somehow proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Trejo committed conspiracy to commit robbery. However, based upon its charging decision the State had

to prove that Trejo's robbery of Borjorquez on October 3rd proved he conspired with someone to commit robbery.

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