#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARIO TREJO,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 16 2023 11:10 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 84724

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM M. WATERS Nevada Bar #009456 Chief Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm Appellant's Judgment of Conviction.

First, the District Court did not violate Trejo's right to an interpreter at critical stages. The District Court did not violate Trejo's right to an interpreter during pretrial proceedings because NRS 50.051(2) allowed the court to appoint a correctional officer to read Trejo's writings in lieu of a registered community interpreter. The District Court did not violate Trejo's right to an interpreter during jury trial because he had interpreters from Clark County Interpreter Services, and he waived his right to appeal issues relating to his ability to communicate. Furthermore, Trejo's due process rights were not violated because he does not claim that he did not understand the proceedings, or that he did not adequately assist in his defense.

Even if there was error, Trejo's claim should be denied under either plain or harmless error review because any alleged error did not affect Trejo's substantial rights. The role of Trejo's interpreter was solely to read his written words on paper and not to translate from another language to English. 6AA1285. Trejo did not suffer prejudice because Trejo does not claim that the correctional officers made mistakes in reading his words, much less show that those mistakes affected his rights.

Second, the District Court did not violate Trejo's right to counsel by granting his Motion to Dismiss Counsel. The District Court did not abuse its discretion by not appointing a substitute counsel because Trejo did not have adequate cause to reject his court-appointed counsel then request a substitute counsel at the public's expense. Furthermore, the District Court did not abuse its discretion by allowing Trejo to represent himself because Trejo made a knowing and voluntary waiver of counsel under <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975).

Third, the District Court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the digital evidence because the State provided the videos to Trejo's counsel while he was still represented. The State was not required to ensure that Trejo viewed the videos it had previously provided the defense.

Fourth, the District Court's jury instructions did not violate Trejo's right to fair trial. The District Court did not err by not instructing the jury *sua sponte* on the lesser included offense of second-degree kidnapping because there was no evidence presented that that would have absolved Trejo of First-Degree Kidnapping but would have still supported a finding of Second-Degree Kidnapping. The lack of jury instructions regarding voluntariness of Trejo's confessions was harmless error because his statements were voluntary, and the State presented overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

Fifth, the District Court did not err by not giving a limiting instruction *sua* sponte after a witness inadvertently stated a bad act evidence because the statement was not solicited by state, not clearly and enduringly prejudicial, and the evidence of guilt was overwhelming.

Sixth, the State presented overwhelming evidence to support Trejo's conspiracy conviction including text messages between Trejo and his co-conspirator; Trejo's statement on September 3 and 6, 2018 that he had co-conspirators; and Trejo's trial testimony admitting he had a co-conspirators but he did not want to name them in fear of being labeled a snitch while in prison.

Last, there is no cumulative error that warrants reversal because the issue of guilt is not close, and the quantity and character of the error was not great and did not affect the verdict. Accordingly, Trejo's Judgment of Conviction should be affirmed.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT VIOLATE TREJO'S RIGHT TO AN INTERPRETER AT CRITICAL STAGES

Trejo claims "the District Court violated Trejo's right to an interpreter at critical stages." AOB at 16. Trejo's claim fails because Trejo was appointed an interpreter during his relevant pre-trial proceedings and jury trial.

NRS 50.051 states that "an interpreter must be appointed at public expense for a person with a communications disability who is a party to or a witness in a

criminal proceedings. "Interpreter" means a (1) registered community interpreter; or (2) person who is appointed as an interpreter pursuant to a NRS 50.0515(2). NRS 50.050.

#### NRS 50.051(2) states:

If a registered community interpreter cannot be found or is otherwise unavailable, or if the appointment of a registered community interpreter will cause a substantial delay in the proceeding, the court, magistrate or other person presiding over the proceeding may, after making a finding to that effect and conducting a voir dire examination of prospective interpreters, appoint any other interpreter that the court, magistrate or other person presiding over the proceeding determines is readily able to communicate with the person with a communications disability, translate the proceeding for him or her, and accurately repeat and translate the statements of the person with a communications disability to the court, magistrate or other person presiding over the proceeding.

The question of an interpreter's competence is a factual one for the trial court; thus, the trial court is given considerable latitude and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Baltazar-Monterrosa v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 606, 615, 137 P.3d 1137, 1143 (2006) (citing Sampson v. State, 121 Nev 820, 122 P.3d 1255, 1259 (2005) and <u>People v. Aranda</u>, 186 Cal. App. 3d 230, 230 Cal. Rptr. 498, 502 (1986)).

A manifest abuse of discretion is a "clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." <u>Jones v. Eight Jud. Dist. Ct.</u>, 130 Nev. 493, 501, 330 P.3d 475, 481 (2014) (<u>citing State v. Eight Jud. Dist. Ct.</u>, 127 Nev 927, 267 P.3d 777, 780 (2011).

# A. The District Court Did Not Violate Trejo's Right To An Interpreter During Pre-Trial Proceedings Because The Court Had Discretion To Appoint A Correctional Officer To Read Trejo's Writings In Lieu of A Registered Community Interpreter

Trejo claims the District Court conducted numerous hearings without the assistance of an interpreter after the District Court acknowledged Trejo's disability on March 24, 2021. AOB at 18. Trejo's claim fails because under NRS 50.051(2), the District Court had discretion to appoint any readily able person to read Trejo's words, in lieu of a registered community interpreter.

Sometime after Trejo's arrest for the instant case, he had a tracheostomy after a "tracheal stenosis secondary to a gunshot wound." 1AA45; 5AA1105. Trejo's could not speak clearly due to his tracheal tube, but he was able to communicate by writing down his words. 1AA45; 5AA1105; 6AA1286. Thus, his interpreter's role was to read his writing. 6AA1286.

Since Trejo's need for interpreter was limited to reading his written words to the court, the possible voir dire was limited to their ability to read Trejo's writing. 6AA1286. The court asked the correctional officers to read Trejo's written words. See 5AA1109-1139, 1143-47, 1151-73, 1192-1202; 6AA1248-68, 1272-83. During all pre-trial court appearances after March 24, 2021, Trejo was in jail and attended court through BlueJeans. Id. In those appearances, Trejo communicated through a correction officer who read Trejo's words to the court. Id.

Trejo specifically claims the District Court conducted the second <u>Faretta</u> canvass without an interpreter. AOB 18-19. This is belied by the record. The District Court held the second <u>Faretta</u> hearing on February 3-4, 2022. 6AA1203. Trejo was in jail and participated through BlueJeans. 6AA1204. Throughout the <u>Faretta</u> hearing, the District Court acknowledged Trejo's responses to yes or no questions. 6AA1203-1246. For longer responses, Trejo wrote his reply and a correction officer read Trejo's words to the court. 6AA1207-46. Furthermore, it was clear that his need for an interpreter was limited for someone to read his writing, and he informed the court that he had no other issues preventing him from understanding court proceedings. 6AA1206-07.

In summary, the District Court did not violate Trejo's right to an interpreter under NRS 50.051 because it was allowed to appoint a readily able interpreter in lieu of a community registered interpreter.

B. Trejo's Right To Interpreter At Trial Was Not Violated Because He Had Interpreters From Clark County Interpreter Services And He Waived His Right To Appeal Issues Relating To His Ability To Communicate

Trejo claims the District Court "used a foreign language interpreter from Clark County Interpreter Services - without first complying with NRS 50.051(2)-when trial began on April 18, 2022." AOB at 20-21. Trejo's bare and naked claim must be denied because he fails to explain how the court failed to comply with NRS 50.051(2).

Regardless, Trejo's claim fails because NRS 50.051(2) only applies when the court's appointed interpreter is not a registered community interpreter. One to three interpreters from Clark County Interpreter Services were present each jury trial day to read Trejo's written words to the court. See 6AA1285; 7AA1453; 8AA1689; 9AA1926, 2037; 10AA2235, 2346; 11AA2503, 2612; 12AA2772, 2919; 13AA3030, 3143.

Furthermore, Trejo agreed to waive his rights to appeal anything related to his inability to speak and directly communicate with the jury. 6AA1290-92. See Burns v. State, 137 Nev. 494, 496, 495 P.3d 1091, 1097 (2021) (enforcing a waiver of appellate rights because it "involved a bargained-for exchange between a defendant and the State" and therefore was subject to contract principles and enforceable as written). Thus, the District Court did not violate Trejo's right to interpreter during trial.

# C. Trejo's Due Process Rights Were Not Violated Because He Does Not Claim That He Did Not Understand The Proceedings Or That He Did Not Adequately Assist in His Defense

Trejo claims the District Court violated his right to an interpreter at all crucial stages of the criminal process. AOB at 19-20.

A criminal defendant who does not understand the English language has a due process right to an interpreter in all crucial stages of the criminal process. <u>Ton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 110 Nev. 970, 971-72, 878 P.22d 986, 987 (1994). A defendant who cannot

understand the court proceedings cannot adequately assist in his defense and has not received due process of law. <u>Id.</u>

Here, Trejo does not claim to not understand the English language. Even if the right to interpreter in all crucial stages under <u>Ton</u> is extended to someone with a speaking disability, Trejo's fails to demonstrate that his due process rights were violated because he does not claim that he failed to understand the proceedings and that he could not adequately assist his defense.

#### D. Any Alleged Error Did Nor Prejudice Trejo

Trejo fails to establish that the District Court erred by violating his right to an interpreter in critical stages of the case. Even if the District Court erred, this claim must be denied because any alleged error did not prejudice Trejo.

# 1. This Court should review this issue under plain error standard

The failure to preserve an error, even an error that has been deemed structural, forfeits the right to assert it on appeal. <u>United States v. Olano</u>, 507 U.S. 725, 731, 113 S.Ct. 1770 (1993) ("No procedural principle is more familiar to this Court than that a constitutional right, or a right of any other sort, may be forfeited in criminal as well as civil cases by the failure to make timely assertion of the right...." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

As a general rule, issues not raised before the district court are deemed waived for appellate review. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d

981, 983 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal."); see also Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 156, 161 n. 3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n. 3 (2011) (explaining that issues not raised below are deemed waived).

Nevada law provides a mechanism for an appellant to seek review of an error he otherwise forfeited. NRS 178.602 (allowing for "plain error" review). "an error that is plain from a review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008).

Plain error review is discretionary, not obligatory. <u>Jeremias v. State</u>, 134 Nev. 46, 52, 412 P.3d 43, 49 (2018). To establish plain error, "an appellant must demonstrate that: (1) there was an "error"; (2) the error is "plain," meaning that it is clear under current law from a casual inspection of the record; and (3) the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. <u>Id.</u> at 50, 412 P.3d at 48. A plain error does not affect a defendant's substantial rights unless "it causes actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.</u> at 51, 412 P.3d at 49.

Here, Trejo did not ask for interpreter or object to the District Court's appointment of correctional officers for pre-trial hearings until he filed his Motion for Proper In-court Disability Adjustment on September 23, 2021. 1AA245-46.

Furthermore, Trejo's motion did not solely ask for community registered interpreter but asked the District Court (1) "that a method is provided as a form of communication" "or that some of assistance is given that is official and doesn't involve requesting an officer to go out of their way to perform a duty not listed in their job description;" (2) that if there is opposition, that defendant be given proper chance to counter-argue as any defendant in pro-se/attorney would receive; and (3) that a prepared argument, on paper, be given the same audience as a vocal argument. 1AA245-46. The District Court granted Trejo's motion on October 11, 2021, and stated that the Clark County Interpreter Services would be able to provide someone to read Trejo's words as he typed them in court. 5AA1175.

Thus, plain error review should apply because Trejo did not object when the District Court appointed correction officers during pre-trial court appearances.

# 2. Any Alleged Error Was Harmless

Under harmless error standard, if the error is not of constitutional dimension, the Court will "reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict"." Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1189, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). "Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." NRS 178.598.

Trejo claims he was harmed in three ways. First, he claims the lack of a registered community interpreter at the <u>Faretta</u> hearings harmed him because he was unable to communicate except for hand signals and short written responses read by the correctional officers. AOB at 21. This claim fails because Trejo does not explain how he would have communicated better when a registered community interpreter would have read the same written words that the correctional officers read to the court.

Second, Trejo claims that without an interpreter, he was "unable to advocate for himself at critical hearings-including the hearings where the court refused to consider his motions to suppress." AOB at 21. This bare and naked claim must be denied because Trejo fails to cite the specific hearings to which he refers to. Trejo also does not explain how a registered community interpreter would have helped him advocate in court when the interpreter's sole role was to read his written words to the court.

Third, Trejo claims that without a registered community interpreter, the court refused to allow Trejo to make representations at two calendar calls and instead allowed the State to make representations on his behalf. AOB at 21. This bare and naked claim must be denied because Trejo does not specify what the State

misrepresented on his behalf and how he was harmed. Trejo's first cited page shows Trejo responding to the court regarding court schedule for the following day. 6AA1226. Trejo's next cited pages show a calendar call on April 13, 2022, where a judge covered for the department's judge and all pending motions were simply continued to the next court date. 6AA1269-71.

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